THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SALUDA COUNTY
In The Circuit Court

Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Appeal No.: 2017-000198

Amy Potts.....Respondent.

v.

McCarty Enterprises, LLC, John Miles McCarty, Audrey S. McCarty, a/k/a Audrey J. McCarty and Jane DoeAppellants.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RECEIVED

AUG 09 2017

SC Court of Appeals

Candy M. Kern-Fuller (S.C. Bar No. 11392)
Upstate Law Group, LLC
200 East Main Street
Easley, SC 29640
864-855-3114
864-855-3446 (Facsimile)
Candy@UpstateLawGroup.com

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANTS

I. ISSUES ON APPEAL

- A. DID THE COURT ERR IN FAILING TO GRANT DEFENDANT'S AMENDED MOTION TO DISMISS?
- B. DID THE COURT ERR IN GRANTING PLAINTIFF'S MOTION TO STRIKE DEFENDANTS' ANSWER AND IN ENTERING DEFAULT IN PLAINTIFF'S FAVOR DESPITE THE FACT THAT MAILING WAS COMPLETE UPON DEPOSIT AT THE POST OFFICE AND THE POSTAL WORKER'S AFFIDAVIT CORRECTING THE COURT'S ERRONEOUS CONCLUSION REGARDING THE GREENVILLE POSTMARK BEING DISPOSITIVE?

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Factual Background

Appellants John McCarty and Audrey live in Saluda County and own a small vehicle and trucking escort company known as McCarty Enterprises, LLC. Appellants McCarty's home and their trucking company are on contiguous property in Saluda County. **(R.p. 16)** Respondent and her husband are neighbors of Appellants.

This action arises out of the destruction of the Respondent's six plus year old Australian Shepherd dog by Appellant John McCarty while the animal was trespassing on Appellants' property on March 25, 2015, and threatening Appellants' animals after two of Appellants McCarty's emus were killed two days prior by the trespassing animal. **(R.pp. 17-18; 68-69)**

Several years prior, the Respondent's same shepherd attacked one of Appellants' family pets on Appellants' property, causing great injury to the Appellants' pet. At that time, the Saluda County Sheriff's Office warned Respondent and Appellants that "they needed to keep their dogs on their property and leashed at all times." They further advised both parties that "they had the right to protect their person and property against attacks on their property." **(R.pp. 68-69)**(Emphasis added)

Two days prior to when the Shepherd was destroyed while on Appellants' property, the Saluda County Sheriff's Office ("SCSO") again responded regarding the killing of Appellants' livestock, and Appellants were advised by the SCSO that "they have a right to protect her animals." (**Id.**) The SCSO also discussed the killing of the Appellants' livestock with Respondent. (**R.p. 69**) Appellant Audrey McCarty further discussed the killing of the two emus with Respondent the day before the Respondent's Shepherd was found trespassing again on Appellants' property, while attempting to harm Appellants McCarty's livestock, and was destroyed by Appellant John McCarty while on his property. (**R.pp. 29, 69**)

B. Procedural History

Respondent's husband, Frank Potts, Esq., initially filed suit on Respondent's behalf on June 8, 2015. (**R.pp. 13-20**). In the first Complaint, Respondent only alleged conspiracy. Specifically, on June 14, 2015, Respondent served Appellants by personally serving Audrey McCarty as a "defendant; spouse of defendant; and person who also represented herself as the authorized agent for defendant John McCarty." (**R.pp. 21-22**). Appellant John McCarty is the registered agent for Appellant McCarty Enterprises, LLC. (**Id.**; **R.p. 150**). Appellants responded to the initial complaint by filing a Motion to Dismiss twelve days later, on June 26, 2015. The same was processed and clocked in by the Saluda County Clerk of Court on July 1, 2015. (**R.pp. 23-27**). Thereafter, things became difficult.

Respondent's husband, Mr. Potts, filed an amended complaint on July 13, 2015, alleging the same conspiracy claim, but adding a two paragraph emotional distress claim. (**R.pp. 28-32**) However, Appellant's counsel never received a copy of the same or other letters Potts said he sent regarding the alleged default. (**R.pp. 65-66**). At the April 28, 2016 Motion for Default

hearing, when Appellants' counsel tried to tender her affidavit to the Court setting forth that she had not received the Amended Complaint filing or the letters, Mr. Potts claimed:

0

1 Mr. Potts via e-mail and mail.

2 **MR. POTTS:** Objection; not received, not filed.
3 That's part of her motion. I object to it.

4 **MS. KERN-FULLER:** To be clear, you haven't
5 received this?

6 **MR. POTTS:** Your Honor, if she wants to
7 interrogate me, I'll go on the witness stand.

8 **THE COURT:** What is it you have?

9 **MS. KERN-FULLER:** Your Honor, I have an
10 affidavit that was served by mail and served by
11 e-mail and I believe by fax within the two days as
12 required under Rule 6 in opposition to the motion
13 for a default. To make sure that it was received
14 within the two days, I provided it electronically to
15 Mr. Potts as well. The rule provides that I am to
16 provide it to opposing party within the two days.

17 **MR. POTTS:** I do not deny that I received it,
18 but I was not served.

(April 28, 2016 Tr. p. 11).

Mr. Potts then claimed while seated at counsel table with only his wife/Respondent:

2 And just as a "for what it's worth"; the
3 certificate of service of the mailing of the amended
4 complaint to -- excuse me -- the certificate of
5 service for the motion for default was signed by,
6 and she's right here, a United States Postal Service
7 employee who both checked for postage and the
8 contents before it went in the mail and actually did
9 the mailing. That was to assure that it was --
10 there was no question that she was getting notice of
11 it, that counsel was getting notice of it. Still

(R.p. 135)

However, at the subsequent hearing in front of Judge Newman, Mr. Potts claimed Mrs. Potts didn't work at the Post Office and that Appellant's counsel "got it wrong." **(R.p. 16)**.

On May 10, 2016, Judge Keesley ruled that given the mailing problems between counsel that Appellants had "15 days from the date this Order is mailed to the defense attorney to file and serve their responsive pleading." **(R.pp. 3-4)**. The order was manually postmarked by the Clerk of Court in Saluda on May 10, 2016, and postmarked at the Regional/SCF mailing facility in Columbia on May 11, 2016. **(R.pp. 1-8)**. In his Order, Judge Keesley encouraged the parties to send items certified mail, but did not require the same. **(R.p. 6)**. However, even with sending certified mail, Respondent's counsel continually challenged the dates and times of the postal center receipts, alleging fraud in certificates of service and at one point inexplicably alleging that Appellant's Counsel's staff placed the item in the mail at 10:16 p.m. on April 27, 2016, two days after they actually mailed it on April 25, 2016, because that is when the post office processed it

and entered into the certified mailing tracking system (as if counsel could control when the Post Office processed her mail). (R.pp. 81-82, 171).

In accordance with Judge Keesley's Order, Appellant's Counsel sent the Amended Motion to Dismiss and an Answer on May 25, 2016 and the discovery responses (with appropriate objections made as allowed by Judge Keesley's Order) on May 31, 2016. Monday, May 30, 2016, was Memorial Day. When the filing hadn't arrived at Saluda County by the morning of May 31, 2016, Appellant's counsel began trying to track down the mailing. She sent a runner to Saluda with an original filing and contacted her local post office. Though Appellant's counsel didn't get a response from her local post office about what actually happened to the mail, it eventually arrived in Saluda County and to Respondent's counsel several days later and was returned by the Saluda Clerk to Appellants' counsel because another original had been couriered to them (R.pp. 95-109, 169-171). Despite this, Judge Newman asserted that while she generally she agrees with SCRPC 5 and understands that a filing is complete upon mailing, "because of this tight time frame. Usually I agree that the rule says service is complete upon mailing but typically the evidence of the date of that mailing is the postmark on the envelope." (R.p. 172) Appellant's counsel and the Court then had the following dialogue:

MS. KERN-FULLER: The May 31st postmark, Your Honor, is in Greenville.

THE COURT: I see that.

MS. KERN-FULLER: That's what's important is because we mailed it in Easley. We didn't mail it in Greenville. And so what happened and our certificate of service, our sworn certificate of service -- and what happened is we put it in the Easley Post Office. Whenever it went from Easley and -- to Greenville to the regional mailing facility is when that postmark got put on it.

(Id.)

THE COURT: Why you are relying on a certificate of service dated six days before the postmark and you don't have an affidavit from anyone at the postal service. Maybe you could have, should have gone to the Easley Post Office and they say, hey, this is our process but --

MS. KERN-FULLER: I tried. I tried.

THE COURT: -- but certainly you're not an expert on the inner workings of the Easley Post Office, nor am I.

MS. KERN-FULLER: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: And you want me to rely on your representations which may well be your understanding of it but may or may not be accurate.

MS. KERN-FULLER: I understand.

MR. POTTS: May I address the Court?

MS. KERN-FULLER: Your Honor, I do want --

THE COURT: Let her respond.

MS. KERN-FULLER: -- to explain to the Court that I did go to the post office and try to get them to give me something and they refused.

THE COURT: I'm sure. But the point is for whatever reason I don't have it.

MS. KERN-FULLER: I understand that, Your Honor.

If we had it to do over again, certainly we would have done it that way. In hindsight I probably would have sent it Fed-Ex. But, all I have is my word as an attorney and, you know, my standing as a bar member to say I watch my paralegal every day put that mail in the post office because I follow her home. And I know when she says, I put it in the post office box on this day, because she leaves at five o'clock

(R.p. 174)

The Court then asked if the Motion to Dismiss and Answer filed were the same as previous.

Appellant's counsel responded that the motion was the same, **but that she had taken the time to add an Answer:**

MS. KERN-FULLER: It was previously filed, a motion to dismiss. And this time I just went ahead and filed an answer, too. Even though I don't feel

like I needed to, I did. But it is -- I have it.

It is exactly the same as the previous motion to dismiss I had filed.

THE COURT: Okay. Which in my mind makes the delay in mailing it even more egregious because you could have hit print again and signed it and mailed it the same day.

(R.p. 175)(Emphasis added)

As such, the Court seemingly ignored what Counsel had said about additionally filing of an answer and simply assumed all counsel had to do was “hit print again.” **(Id.)**

Further, Respondent’s counsel focused during his argument on the fact that Appellant had no affidavit from the Postal Service to explain the delay or the difference between the Greenville postmark when the item was mailed from the Easley Post Office. **(R.p. 176)**. As such, the Court found, “the only competent evidence I have before me is that it was in fact mailed on May 31st which is beyond the deadline prescribed by Judge Keesley. So I'm going to grant the Plaintiff's motion for default.” **(R.p. 192)**. Judge Newman issued her Form 4 Order finding the same, which was mailed to Appellants’ counsel on October 4, 2016 and was received on October 6, 2016. Appellants then filed a Motion for Reconsideration on October 17, 2016 (a Monday).

Subsequent to the hearing, Appellant’s counsel met with a representative from the Greenville postal facility who was a postal clerk of over twenty years and the person who regularly receives customer complaints. **(R.pp. 110-127)** Ms. Chester ultimately provided her an affidavit detailing why the Greenville postmark of May 31, 2016 would not be the mailing date on a piece of mail placed in the box at the Easley post office. In her affidavit, she stated:

- 7) For instance, if you were to walk into a local post office to drop off a letter, the letter likely would not be postmarked there unless it was "local mail." More specifically, your mail would be placed in one of two bins behind the counter for pick up that evening – the local mail bin or the SCF bin. If it were "local mail," i.e. going to someone else in the exact same area code as that post office, later that evening it would be postmarked with the local post office postmark and then routed to the carrier. If it were going to the SCF facility, it likely would not be postmarked until it was sorted at the SCF location. If mail is placed in an outside box, it is collected at the local facility around 6 p.m. and sorted in a similar manner and then non-local mail is sent to the Greenville for further processing. Mail placed in an outside box at a local post office, unless it is local mail, it is likely not to be postmarked until sorted at the Greenville SCF and will bear the Greenville SCF postmark;

(R.p. 118)

Despite this additional information that had seemingly been craved by the Court previously, Judge Newman denied the Motion for Reconsideration without further hearing. (R.p. 12). This appeal follows.

III. ARGUMENT

A. THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS.

Despite Plaintiff's pending Motion to Strike Defendant's Amended Motion to Dismiss and Answer and Enter for Default Judgment for Plaintiff, without Plaintiff's objection (and, in fact, at Plaintiff counsel's suggestion, the Court first heard Defendant's Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's claims. (R.pp. 154-162).

"A civil conspiracy is a combination of two or more persons joining for the purpose of injuring and causing special damage to the plaintiff." McMillan v. Oconee Mem'l Hosp., Inc., 367 S.C. 559, 564, 626 S.E.2d 884, 886 (2006); *See also* Todd v. S.C. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co., 276 S.C. 284, 292, 278 S.E.2d 607, 611 (1981) ("Conspiracy is the conspiring or combining together to do an unlawful act to the detriment of another or the doing of a lawful act in an unlawful way to the detriment of another."); Vaught v. Waites, 300 S.C. 201, 208, 387 S.E.2d 91, 95 (Ct.App.1989) ("Civil conspiracy consists of three elements: (1) a combination of two or more persons, (2) for the purpose of injuring the plaintiff, (3) which causes him special damage."). The gravamen of the tort of civil conspiracy is the damage resulting to the plaintiff from an overt act done pursuant to a common design. Vaught, 300 S.C. at 208, 387 S.E.2d at 95.

In a civil conspiracy claim, **one must plead acts in furtherance of the conspiracy that are separate and independent from other wrongful acts alleged in the complaint, and the failure to properly plead such acts will merit the dismissal of the claim.** See Todd, 276 S.C. at 293, 278 S.E.2d at 611 (dismissing plaintiff's civil conspiracy cause of action because it did no more than incorporate the complaint's allegations in the previous causes of action and because the only alleged wrongful acts pled were those for which damages had already been sought). Further, the damages alleged must go beyond the damages alleged in other causes of action. See Vaught, 300 S.C. at 209, 387 S.E.2d at 95 (holding that Todd barred a conspiracy cause of action because no special damages were alleged aside from the damages already alleged for the plaintiff's breach of contract cause of action in that case)."

Cricket Cove Ventures, LLC v. Gilland, 390 S.C. 312, 324–25, 701 S.E.2d 39, 46 (Ct. App. 2010) (Emphasis added).

"An action for civil conspiracy is an action at law, and the trial court's findings will be upheld on appeal unless they are without evidentiary support. Gynecology Clinic, Inc. v. Cloer, 334 S.C. 555, 556, 514 S.E.2d 592, 592-93 (1999). A civil conspiracy is a combination of two or more persons joining for the purpose of injuring and causing special damage to the plaintiff. Lawson v. S.C. Dept. of Corrections, 340 S.C. 346, 352, 532 S.E.2d 259, 261 (2000). Civil conspiracy involves acts that are by their very nature covert and clandestine and usually not susceptible of proof by direct evidence. Robertson v. First Union Nat'l Bank, 350 S.C. 339, 349, 565 S.E.2d 309, 314 (Ct.App.2002). However, a civil conspiracy cannot exist when the alleged acts arise in the context of a principal-agent relationship because by virtue of the relationship such acts do not involve separate entities. Perk v. Vector Resources Group, Ltd., 253 Va. 310, 485 S.E.2d 140, 144 (1997).

McMillan v. Oconee Mem'l Hosp., Inc., 367 S.C. 559, 564–65, 626 S.E.2d 884, 886–87 (2006)

In the case at bar, Plaintiff alleged the following in its Amended Complaint as the sum total of her Conspiracy cause of action:

3. The defendant **Audrey McCarty** is the sole owner of the residential property located at **103 Kalyn Way, Leesville, South Carolina.**

4. The defendant, **McCarty Enterprises, LLC**, is a South Carolina corporation with its principal office located in **Saluda County at 105 Stone Ridge Road, Leesville, South Carolina.**

5. The defendant, Jane Doe, whose true name is currently unknown, is, upon information and belief, an agent or employee of McCarty Enterprises who resides upon property at 105 Stone Ridge Road owned by said corporation which is adjacent to and contiguous to the property upon which the defendants, Audrey and John McCarty, reside at 103 Kalyn Way.

Intentional Tort – Civil Conspiracy

7. The plaintiff was the owner of an Australian Shepherd dog who lived with the plaintiff at her residence in Leesville, South Carolina for over six years.

8. The defendants knew the plaintiff, where she lived, and that the Australian Shepherd dog, known as “Ruby” was her dog, pet, and constant companion for which the plaintiff had great love, affection, and caring and treated as a member of her family.

9. The defendants Audrey McCarty and John McCarty bore the plaintiff ill will because prior to July 2012, the plaintiff had accidentally run over and killed the defendants’ beloved Boston Terrier pet dog when it was chasing her van on Stone Ridge Road. Within a few months of that incident, the defendant Audrey McCarty threatened that the plaintiff’s dog “Ruby” would be killed if she trespassed on the defendants’ property.

10. On March 4, 2015 the defendant Audrey McCarty and defendant Jane Doe drove a golf cart to the plaintiff’s residence, and in the presence and hearing of the defendant Jane Doe, the defendant Audrey McCarty again threatened that “Ruby” would be killed if she trespassed on the defendants’ property. The plaintiff responded to the defendant that she loved and cared for “Ruby” as a member of her family, and had gone to the trouble and expense of

purchasing and installing a wireless underground fence which the defendant Audrey McCarty acknowledged had been effective at preventing "Ruby" from leaving the plaintiff's residential property for several years.

11. On Tuesday, March 24, 2015, defendants Audrey McCarty and Jane Doe again drove a golf cart to the plaintiff's residence to enquire whether or not the plaintiff knew the identities of the owners of a German Shepherd and a black Labrador Retriever which the defendant Jane Doe claimed to have observed killing two emus on the defendants' property the previous night. The defendant Jane Doe participated in the conversation between the defendant Audrey McCarty and the plaintiff, and took notes on a yellow legal pad. Upon information and belief, similar enquiries were made of at least two other neighbors by the defendant Audrey McCarty during the same day, and Jane Doe was observed taking notes on the yellow pad by each of the neighbors. At least one of those neighbors was told by defendant Audrey McCarty that the next dog that trespassed on the defendants' property would be killed.

12. The following morning, March 25, 2015, at approximately 8:40 a.m., the defendant John McCarty fired two shots from a shotgun, killing "Ruby" on or adjacent to the property line of his residence at 103 Kalyn Way.

13. The defendants at various and sundry times combined together for the sole and exclusive purpose of causing damage to the plaintiff by planning to kill, seeking an excuse or fabrication to kill, and eventually killing her dog in revenge for the accidental death of the Boston Terrier of the defendant Audrey McCarty which was chasing vehicles at the time of the dog's death.

14. The McCarty defendants had published threats or participated in the publishing of threats to kill the plaintiff's dog, and the defendant Jane Doe joined with Audrey and John

McCarty in the endeavor as an authorized employee or agent of her employer, defendant McCarty Enterprises.

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