THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM SALUDA COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2015-CP-41-139  
Appellate Case No. 2017-000198

---

Amy Potts .....Respondent

v.

McCarty Enterprises, LLC, John Miles McCarty,  
Audrey S. McCarty, a/k/a/ Audrey J. McCarty,  
and Jane Doe.....Appellants

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

Frank S. Potts  
Attorney at Law  
(SC Bar No. 4538)  
137 Stone Ridge Road  
Leesville, SC 29070  
(803)622-6000  
[lakecottage@comporium.net](mailto:lakecottage@comporium.net)

M. Evan Lacke  
Attorney at Law  
(SC Bar No. 74969)  
**LACKE LAW FIRM**  
147 Wappoo Creek Drive, Ste. 204

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

## ARGUMENT

### Appellants' Initial Brief does not Conform to the Rules

Rule 208(b)(1)(C) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure clearly states that “the statement [of the case] shall not contain contested matters...”, but the Appellants’ Statement of the Case in the Initial Brief includes several instances of contested matter.

### *Contested Matters in Appellants’ Statement of Case by Page*

#### Page One:

In a section entitled “Factual background”, Appellants present as fact several claims in regard to the killing of Ruby that are contested - claims which they, themselves, have prevented from being litigated by their failure to follow the rules of court and allow this case to proceed in regular order.

That Ruby was identifiable to the McCartys, that John McCarty killed Ruby on or near his wife’s property, and that Respondent accidentally ran over and killed the McCartys’ dog, Allie, in 2012, are uncontested facts. (Appellants’ [Initial] Brief, p. 1) (Tr. Keesley at 19, 2-5) (R. p. 146, lines 2-5)

That Ruby had anything to do with an injury to Allie in 2010 or any subsequent injury to any animal on the McCarty property, or that any interactions occurred between the Saluda County Sheriff’s Department and Respondent are

contested and should not have been presented to this court as uncontested fact.

(Appellants' [Initial] Brief, p. 1)

Pages Three and Four:

Appellant excerpts a statement Respondent counsel made to Judge Keesley:

“...the certificate of service for the motion for default was signed by, and she’s right here, a United States Postal Service employee who both checked for postage and the contents before it went in the mail and actually did the mailing.” (Tr. Keesley at 8, 2-14) (Appellants' [Initial] Brief at 4, 2-11) (R. p. 135, lines 2-14).

Respondent counsel was referring to Keeshone Johnson, an employee of the Saluda Post Office, but opposing counsel misunderstood, as later in the hearing she said, “I don’t know who the U.S. Postal employee would be other than Ms. Potts and I don’t know what happened to the mail.” (Tr. Keesley at 15, 21-23) (R. p. 142, lines 21-23). When, in the second default hearing, Appellant counsel told Judge Newman that the Respondent, Mrs. Potts, worked at a post office, Respondent’s counsel immediately corrected her saying, “No ma’am. You’ve got it wrong.” (Tr. Newman at 16, line 23) (R. p. 168, lines 8-23).

The inclusion of this matter in an appellate brief makes no sense to Respondent counsel unless its intent is to cast aspersions on the credibility of her counsel. This is a trivial issue with no bearing on this appeal, but evidently it was important enough to Appellant counsel to include it in her brief. (Tr. Newman at 16) (Appellants' [Initial] Brief at 4). (R. p. 168).

Pages Four and Five:

In another part of her Statement of the Case Appellant says the following:

“However, even with sending certified mail, respondent’s counsel continually challenged the dates and times of the postal center receipts, alleging fraud in certificates of service and at one point inexplicably *alleging that Appellant’s* [sic] *Counsel’s staff* placed the item in the mail at 10:16 p.m. on April 27, 2016, two days after they actually mailed it on April 25, 2016, because that is when the post office processed it and entered into the certified mailing tracking system (as if counsel could control when the Post Office processed her mail.) [emphasis added.]

Appellants’ counsel represents these items as certified mail, but they are not. They are first-class mail with tracking numbers, printed on the Stamps.com system in Appellant counsel’s own office. (2<sup>nd</sup> Motion for Default, Exhibits 5, 6, 7, and 7a)<sup>15</sup> (R. pp. 89-91 & 100). Indeed, Appellant counsel never sent any certified mail to respondent at all until after the entry of default, and counsel has found them to be completely satisfactory.

Respondent counsel never alleged, “*that Appellant’s Counsel’s staff placed the item in the mail at 10:16 p.m. on April 27, 2016.*” Rather, in an affidavit, counsel simply related tracking information involving those items. Those after-hours times to which Appellant counsel refers here, reflect USPS scanning times, not mailing times. (Affidavit of Frank Potts, June 23, 2016, ¶ 10) (2<sup>nd</sup> Motion for Default, Exhibits 5 and 6) (R. p. 81, ¶ 10 & pp. 89-90).

---

<sup>15</sup> It should be noted that prior to Judge Keesley’s request that counsel use certified mail, she routinely used first class mail with tracking in this case. It was only after the escape from the default, the knowledge that mail was a problem, and the resulting request by the court, that Appellant counsel then resorted to a manner of mailing that was not able to be tracked.

These mailings represent the first time Respondent discovered certificates of service prepared by Appellant counsel containing inconsistencies with the actual dates of mailing as recorded by the USPS - the exact circumstance of the mailing at issue before Judge Newman in the second default hearing.

Page Five:

Appellant counsel refers to the objections made in discovery as “appropriate objections.” One of the determinations made by Judge Newman was that these objections were “not legitimate.” (Tr. Newman at. 35, 5-13) (R. p. 187, lines 5-15).

Page Seven:

Appellant counsel refers to an affiant as a “representative of the Greenville postal facility.” (Appellant [Initial] Brief at 7, last ¶). This is deceiving. According to her affidavit (submitted after default), Latonya Chester is an employee of the Berea Post Office, which had nothing to do with any mail piece at issue in this case and should not be confused with the main Greenville Post Office, the facility that processes mail from the Easley Post Office and might actually have had pertinent information about lost or tardy mail in this case. (Affidavit of Latonya Chester, October 10, 2016, ¶ 2) (R. p. 117, ¶ 2).

### *Request*

Based on the five instances described above, Respondent asserts that the Appellants' Statement of the Case violates Rule 208(b)(1)(C), and respectfully requests that the statement be conformed to the rules.

### **The Motion to Dismiss Was Correctly Denied**

At issue before Judge Newman was an amended motion to dismiss by the Appellants, and motions for default, to strike and to compel by Respondent. At the suggestion of counsel for the Respondent, and without objection by opposing counsel, the first motion heard was Appellants' amended motion to dismiss. (Tr. Newman at 2, 20-25) (Affidavit of Candy Kern-Fuller, October 17, 2016, Exhibit 1) (R. p. 2, lines 20-24 & p. 124).

Although not cited, the motion is governed by Rule 12(b)(6) SCRPC and "the circuit court must base its ruling solely upon allegations set forth on the face of the complaint." *Charleston County School District v. Harrell*, 393 S.C. 552, 557, 713 S.E.2d 604, 607 (2011). "The motion may not be sustained if the facts alleged in the complaint and the inferences drawn therefrom would entitle the plaintiff to relief under any theory. Pleadings in a case should be construed liberally and the court must presume all well-pled facts to be true so that substantial justice is done between the parties." *Id.*

### *First Basis - Civil-Conspiracy*

Appellant argued that Respondent's claim for civil conspiracy should be dismissed because at all times alleged the Defendants [Appellants], John McCarty, Audrey McCarty and Jane Doe, were employees and/or agents of the Defendant [Appellant] McCarty Enterprises and a corporation cannot conspire with itself.

*McMillan v. Oconee Mem'l Hosp., Inc.*, 367 S.C. 559, 564, 626 S.E.2d 884, 887 (2006).

The transcript of the hearing shows the following exchanges on this point:

THE COURT: ... but what I see is that while a corporation cannot conspire with itself, its agents as individuals are legally capable of conspiring among themselves. So, it's not just the corporation that is a Defendant in this case but there are individuals named as Defendants. And is it not the allegation that the individuals conspired with each other?

MS. KERN-FULLER: Well, Jane Doe is listed as, at all times as acting as an employee of the corporation.

THE COURT: There has to be some -- well, I'll read through the complaint again but there has to be some allegation of some individual otherwise I would guess they wouldn't be parties to the case. But, Mr. Potts, let me hear from you.

MR. POTTS: Well, if you would -- if I may, I think I can make it a little bit shorter for you so you don't have to read the whole complaint. But anyway, I'll tell you what is not there. What is not there is an allegation that Mr. McCarty, [or] his wife were acting for or as agents or employees of the corporation. They are being sued strictly as individuals.

THE COURT: Right.

MR. POTTS: Period. And the whole idea that this is all a corporate act, that may be true but it's up to them to prove it.

THE COURT: Right. Otherwise, Ms. Kern-Fuller, they wouldn't be named as parties in the complaint. I mean, you'd be moving to dismiss them from the complaint if there were no such allegation. It doesn't make sense otherwise.

(Tr. Newman at 10, 11-25 and at 11, 1-21) (R. p. 162 line 11 – p. 163 line 21).

### *Second Basis - Killing of an Identifiable Dog*

Appellant counsel argued that the Appellant's killing of Respondent's dog is not an actionable matter. She maintained that the Appellants cannot be held civilly liable for the killing of Plaintiff's dog because of Section 47-3-530 of the *South Carolina Code of Laws, Annotated*, which she contends lawfully permits the killing of a dog that is "threatening to cause or causing personal injury or property damage."

In fact, the cited code specifies that the killing of an identifiable trespassing animal is a criminal offense. That the Respondent's dog was trespassing and was also identifiable by Mr. McCarty, and that Mr. McCarty killed her are uncontested. The behavior of the dog, which Appellants allege justified her killing, is contested as was recognized by the court:

THE COURT: Well, several things. And I'll start at the very last. It sounds to me and I don't -- I don't know that that's admitted and maybe I've just not seen it in the complaint but if the Plaintiff does not admit that this animal was threatening to cause or causing personal injury or property damage you would be asking me to make a finding of fact that that was in fact the case. And I'm not in a position to do that. (Tr. Newman at 9-10) (R. p. 161, line 23 – p. 162, line 6).

A criminal statute pertaining to the stealing or killing of an identifiable dog is not relevant in this case. Whether or not the Appellant, John McCarty (the admitted shooter of Ruby) violated a criminal statute is not an issue. In *Ott v. Pittman*, 320 S.C. 72, 463 S.E.2d 101 (Ct. App. 1995). Mr. Pittman was charged with shooting Mr. Ott's dogs and killing one. He was tried and acquitted; however, this fact did not preclude Mr. Ott from bringing a civil action against Mr. Pittman and recovering a judgment against him for \$19,800.

### *Third Basis - Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress*

The Appellants argued that the law limits a claim of intentional infliction of emotional distress to egregious conduct toward a plaintiff proximately caused by a defendant. Appellant counsel stated that it was not enough that the conduct is intentional and outrageous, but that it would have had to have been directed at the Respondent, and the Respondent would have had to allege that it had been done intentionally to cause her emotional distress. (Tr. Newman at 12, 6-18) (R. p. 164, lines 6-18).

At this point Respondent counsel referenced paragraphs 15, 16, and 19, from the Complaint to Judge Newman, including this allegation:

15. With the participation of the three defendants named and the corporate defendant, an understanding was reached between the defendants to facilitate the killing of the plaintiff's dog at the earliest opportunity in order to intentionally inflict severe emotional distress on the plaintiff for the loss of her beloved pet "Ruby." (Complaint at ¶ 15) (R. p. 19, ¶ 15)

To which Judge Newman responded:

THE COURT: Right. It's right there in paragraph 15. And, you know, as to whether it's egregious or not, again, I'm not in a position to make a finding of fact at this point that it was not egregious, certainly not on a motion to dismiss.

So unfortunately I'm going to have to deny your motion to dismiss on all grounds. (Tr. Newman at 12, 24-25 and 13, 1-6) (R. p. 164, line 24 – p. 165, line 6).

The Respondent asserts that the record clearly establishes Judge Newman committed no error by denying Appellants' motion to dismiss.

### The Motion for Default was Properly Granted

The Respondent's motion for default, to strike and to compel was based on a violation of the court's order to file and serve responsive pleadings by May 26, 2016. A false certificate of service, failure to respond to discovery as ordered, and the failure to respond to two of the six discovery requests at all, exemplify a total lack of regard to the Respondent's right to have her case tried on the merits.

Not only has Appellant counsel insulted the Respondent, but she has insulted the court as well.

Near the end of her brief,<sup>16</sup> Appellant counsel states, "Quite simply, Respondent has from the start wanted this case decided for her on technicalities... rather than have the matter decided on its merits..."<sup>17</sup>

---

<sup>16</sup> Appellants' [Initial] Brief at p. 23.

<sup>17</sup> If that were true, then why would Respondents counsel send a letter to Ms. Kern-Fuller reminding her that deadlines had been passed, and warning her that he would have to move for default unless she responded to him? He could have moved for default without contacting her and offering her more time to respond.

Surely, if that had been the wish of the Respondent, then Appellant counsel has been extremely cooperative by ignoring the rules of court as well as its orders.

### *Notice to Counsel for the Appellants*

Before a discussion of the evidence that was before Judge Newman on September 7<sup>th</sup>, as well as consideration of the evidence that was *not* before her, it is important to understand that the second motions for default and to compel were served upon Appellant counsel on June 24, 2016.<sup>18</sup> The issues that Respondent counsel would argue at the coming hearing and every piece of evidence in the file before the judge, was known to Appellant counsel for over two months before she appeared at the hearing on September 7<sup>th</sup>; yet, she neither served nor filed any evidence in opposition to the motion during that time nor did she attempt to do so at the hearing.

### *The Disputed Mailings*

#### *The Deadlines:*

According to Judge Keesley's order, the deadline for filing and serving responsive pleadings was calculated to be May 26, 2016. (Keesley Order at 3-4) (R. p. 3, ¶ 4 – p. 4 ¶ 2). The order could have required only the service of responsive pleadings since a failure to serve pleadings in a timely manner is what raises the issue of default. The filing of responsive pleadings by a particular date is useful if

---

<sup>18</sup> Certificate of service dated June 24, 2016. (R. p. 94).

one seeks proof that the documents were not neglected, forgotten, or disregarded, but that affirmative action was taken with respect to those documents by a particular date and time.

It is not disputed that the Appellants' responsive pleadings were filed, by hand, on May 31<sup>st</sup>, five days after the court's deadline had passed in violation of the explicit order of the court. (2<sup>nd</sup> Motion to Dismiss) (Defendants' [Appellants] Answer to Amended Complaint) (Memorandum in Opposition to Default dated September 7, 2016 at 2-10) (R. p. 67 & p. 96, lines 7-10).

*Appellant Counsel's Awareness of (alleged) Poor Mail Service for Six Years:*

Throughout this case, Appellant has repeatedly relied upon the excuse that she believes there is an overriding problem with mail flowing through the Easley Post Office.

During the first default hearing in April of 2016, she said:

I can assure the Court that from here forward, I will use a different method other than U.S. Mail to make sure that these are properly delivered to both Mr. Potts and the Court because apparently there is a problem.... (Tr. Keesley at 16-17) (R. p.143, line 22 - p. 144, line 4).<sup>19</sup>

In a memorandum in September:

Unfortunately this [having to call Easley Postmaster about lost mail] is a common occurrence for our local Post Office.... (Memorandum in Opposition to Default, at 2, fn. 1) (R. p. 96, n. 1).

---

<sup>19</sup> Appellant counsel did not disclose to Judge Newman at the second default hearing that she had made this promise to Judge Keesley at the first one.

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